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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

DALLAS DIVISION 
 

 

RANGING OPTICS LLC, 

 

 Plaintiff 

 

  v. 

 

GOOD SPORTSMAN MARKETING, 
L.L.C., 
 
 Defendants 

 

 

Case No.  3:21-cv-1405 

 

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

 

 

COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT 

Plaintiff Ranging Optics LLC (“Ranging Optics” or “Plaintiff”) hereby asserts the 

following claims for patent infringement against Defendants Good Sportsman Marketing, L.L.C. 

(“GSM” or “Defendant”), and alleges as follows: 

SUMMARY 

1. Ranging Optics owns United States Patent Nos. 6,512,574 (“the ’574 patent”) and 

7,443,927 (“the ‘927 patent”) (collectively, the “Asserted Patents”). 

2. Defendant has infringed and continues to infringe at least one or more claims of 

each of Ranging Optic’s Asserted Patents at least by making, using, selling, and/or offering to sell 

a number of its laser range finder products including, inter alia, the Halo Optics XL600 Laser 

Rangefinder (collectively, the “Accused Product”).  

3. By this action, Ranging Optics seeks to obtain compensation for the harm Ranging 

Optics has suffered as a result of Defendants’ infringement of the Asserted Patents. 
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NATURE OF THE ACTION 

4. This is a civil action for patent infringement arising under the patent laws of the 

United States, 35 U.S.C. § 1 et seq. 

5. Defendants have infringed and continue to infringe at least one or more claims of 

each of Ranging Optic’s Asserted Patents at least by making, using, selling, and/or offering to sell 

its products and services in the United States, including in this District. 

6. Ranging Optics is the legal owner by assignment of the Asserted Patents, which 

were duly and legally issued by the United States Patent and Trademark Office (“USPTO”).  

Ranging Optics seeks monetary damages for Defendants’ infringement of the Asserted Patents. 

THE PARTIES 

7. Plaintiff Ranging Optics LLC is a Texas limited liability company with its principal 

place of business at 17330 Preston Road Ste 200, Dallas, TX 75252. Ranging Optics is the owner 

of intellectual property rights at issue in this action. 

8. Upon information and belief, GSM is a limited liability company organized and 

existing under the laws of Texas, with a principal place of business at 5250 Frye Road, Irving, 

Texas 75061.   

9. On information and belief, GSM owns and directs or controls the Halo Optics 

brand. It was recently announced that GSM purchased WGI Innovation and the Halo Optics brands 

from Pure Fishing Inc, https://www.prnewswire.com/news-releases/gridiron-capital-backed-gsm-

outdoors-acquires-plano-synergys-hunting-and-archery-brands-from-pure-fishing-

301272710.html. GSM’s website lists Halo Optics as one of its brands, 

https://www.gsmoutdoors.com/. 

10. On information and belief, Defendant directly and/or indirectly develop, design, 
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manufacture, distribute, market, offer to sell and/or sell infringing products and services in the 

United States, including in the Northern District of Texas, and otherwise direct infringing activities 

to this District in connection with its products and services. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

11. As this is a civil action for patent infringement arising under the patent laws of the 

United States, 35 U.S.C. § 1 et seq., this Court has subject matter jurisdiction over the matters 

asserted herein under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1338(a). 

12. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant because, on information and 

belief, GSM and Halo Optics, conducts regular and substantial business in Texas, including 

operating and directing its business through the GSM headquarters location in Irving, Texas. GSM 

has committed acts within this state that give rise to this suit, including importing, making, using, 

offering to sell, and selling infringing products such as those identified in this Complaint. At a 

minimum, GSM places products, including infringing products such as the one identified in this 

Complaint, into the stream of commerce knowing and intending that such products will be used, 

sold, or offered for sale within this state. Exercising personal jurisdiction over GSM is appropriate 

and reasonable under the circumstances. 

13. Venue is proper in this District under the provisions of 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391 and 

1400(b) at least because a substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to the claims 

occurred in this District, and because Defendants have committed acts of infringement in this 

District.  Furthermore, Defendants have a regular and established place of business in the District, 

including through the GSM headquarters located at 5250 Frye Road, Irving, Texas 75061. 

The ‘574 Patent 

14. U.S. Patent No. 6,512,574 (“the ‘574 Patent”) is titled “Light Receiving Circuit of 
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Laser Range Finder,” and was issued on January 28, 2003.  A true and correct copy of the ‘574 

Patent is attached as Exhibit A. 

15. The ‘574 Patent was filed on February 12, 2001 as U.S. Patent Application No. 

09/780,364. 

16. Ranging Optics is the owner of all rights, title, and interest in and to the ‘574 Patent, 

with the full and exclusive right to bring suit to enforce the ‘574 Patent, including the right to 

recover for past infringement. 

17.  The ‘574 Patent is valid and enforceable under United States Patent Laws. 

18. The ‘574 Patent disclosed, among other things, “a light receiving circuit of a laser 

range finder comprising a photo-sensitive element, a conversion resistance amplifying loop, and 

main amplification loop, and a one short circuit.” Ex. A at Abstract.   

19. The ’574 Patent recognized various shortcomings of existing range finder device.  

As one example, traditional laser range funders employed a pulse type of the laser transmitter to 

transmit short laser pulses of about 20 nanoseconds onto a target.  Id. at 1:12-15.  “The reflected 

laser signal from the target is received by employing a low noise high sensitivity laser received to 

evaluate the distance” using a mathematical formula which includes calculating the time delay.  

Id. at 1:15-20.  However, noise may interfere with the calculation of the time delay and noise 

increases as the distance measured increases.  To overcome the problems in the prior art, the ’574 

Patent discloses “a light receiving receiver with a bias stabilized main amplifier followed by a one-

shot circuit to get a digital output signal with fixed pulse width.” Id. at 1:42-45.  This novel 

apparatus provides a function of maximum sensitivity for the laser receiving circuit, therefore 

increasing the ranging distance of the laser range finger.   

20. Defendant has had actual constructive notice of the ‘574 Patent no later than 
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October 21, 2020 when Plaintiff informed Halo Optics of the ’574 Patent. Defendant’s 

infringement of the ‘574 Patent was willful and deliberate, entitling Plaintiff to enhanced damages. 

The ’927 Patent 

21. U.S. Patent No. 7,443,927 (“the ’927 Patent”) is titled “Signal Detector,” and was 

issued on October 28, 2008.  A true and correct copy of the ‘927 Patent is attached as Exhibit B. 

22. The ‘927 Patent was filed on June 12, 2007 as U.S. Patent Application No. 

11/761,439. 

23. Ranging Optics is the owner of all rights, title, and interest in and to the ‘927 Patent, 

with the full and exclusive right to bring suit to enforce the ‘927 Patent, including the right to 

recover for past infringement. 

24. The ‘927 Patent is valid and enforceable under United States Patent Laws. 

25. The ‘927 Patent discloses, among other things, “a signal detector compris[ing] a 

signal translator, a data signal detector, a clock signal detector and an inputting control circuit for 

detecting abnormal clock and data signals.”  Ex. B at Abstract.   

26. The ‘927 Patent recognized various shortcomings of existing types of “[signal] 

detectors in the market for various uses, such as fire warning, anti-theft, quantity surveying and so 

on…”  Id. at 1:16-18.  These signal detection devices detect conditions such as temperature, 

pressure or light and send out a warning signal.  Id. at 1:18-20.  However, once a clock signal is 

interrupted during a transmission, the whole course of transmission is interrupted as well without 

any warning.  Id. at 1:21-25.  These interruptions cause delays in time and transmission, thereby 

wasting valuable resources.  Id. at 1:26-27.  Furthermore, if a short circuit or some other factor 

causes the system, to continuously output a series of data signals, the abnormal data transmission 

may cause the transmission facility as well as the laser to become overly exhausted or break down.  
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Id. at :28-32. 

27. The ’927 provided a solution to this problem by among other things, providing a 

novel signal detector comprising a signal translator, a data signal detector and an inputting control 

circuit.  Id. at 1:38-40.  The signal translator converts differential data signals into a single data 

signal and the data signal detector outputs a data detecting signal according to the signal data 

signal.  Id. at 1:4-43.  The ’927 Patent further utilized an interrupting control circuit which receives 

the data detecting signal and outputs a shutdown signal when the single data signal is at a high 

voltage level over a predefined ratio.  Id. at 1:43-46. 

28. Defendant has had actual constructive notice of the ‘927 Patent no later than 

October 21, 2020 when Plaintiff informed Halo Optics of the ’927 Patent. Defendant’s 

infringement of the ‘927 Patent was and continues to be willful and deliberate, entitling Plaintiff 

to enhanced damages. 

COUNT I: INFRINGEMENT OF U.S. PATENT NO. 6,512,574 

29. Ranging Optics incorporates by reference and re-alleges paragraphs 16-21 of this 

Complaint as if fully set forth herein. 

30. Defendants have infringed, either literally or under the doctrine of equivalents, the 

‘574 Patent in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271 et seq., directly and/or indirectly, by making, using, 

offering for sale, or selling in the United States, and/or importing into the United States without 

authority or license the Accused Product. 

31. As just one non-limiting example, set forth below (with claim language in bold and 

italics) is exemplary evidence of infringement of Claim 7 of the ‘574 Patent in connection with the 

Accused Product.  This description is based on publicly available information.  Ranging Optics 

reserves the right to modify this description, including, for example, on the basis of information 
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about the Accused Product that it obtains during discovery. 

32. 7(a). A light receiving circuit of a laser range finder, said light receiving circuit 

comprising:—Defendants made, used, sold, and/or offered to sell a device or system that is 

covered by the apparatus in accordance with Claim 7.   

For instance, the Halo Optics XL600 Laser Rangefinder houses a light receiving circuit. 

 

 

7(b): a photosensitive element for converting a light signal into a current signal;—

Defendants made, used, sold, and/or offered to sell a device or system that includes a 

photosensitive element (APD – Avalanche Photodiode). 
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7(c): a conversion amplifier connected with said photosensitive element for converting 

the current signal outputted from the photosensitive element into a voltage signal;— Defendants 

made, used, sold, and/or offered to sell a device or system that includes transistors that convert the 

current signal into a voltage signal.  

Case 3:21-cv-01405-N   Document 1   Filed 06/16/21    Page 8 of 22   PageID 8Case 3:21-cv-01405-N   Document 1   Filed 06/16/21    Page 8 of 22   PageID 8



9 

 

R24 Transistor 

7(d): a main amplifier connected with the conversion amplifier for amplifying the output 

voltage signal from the conversion amplifier;— Defendants made, used, sold, and/or offered to 

sell a device or system that includes a main amplifier connected to the conversion amplifier.  
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https://fscdn.rohm.com/en/products/databook/datasheet/discrete/transistor/bipolar/2sa1576u3t10
6r-e.pdf 

7(e): a one-shot circuit connected with the main amplifier for shaping the output voltage 
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signal from the main amplifier into a digital signal by which the range-finding computation is 

attained by the laser range finder;— Defendants made, used, sold, and/or offered to sell a device 

or system that includes a one-shot circuit which includes a comparator. The comparator utilizes 

the voltage signal from the main amplifier to generate a digital signal (e.g. compares the incoming 

voltage signal with a stable input signal to generate a digital output).  
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https://www.ti.com/lit/ds/symlink/adc08060.pdf 
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https://www.ti.com/lit/ds/symlink/adc08060.pdf 
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The digital signal is then sent to the logic chip (e.g. Gowin GW1NZ), which performs the 

range finding computation. 
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Https://www.gowisemi.com/upload/database_doc/401/document/6054519b2930b.pdf  

7(f): wherein said main amplifier is a bias stabilized amplifier..— Defendants made, used, 

sold, and/or offered to sell a device or system that includes the main amplifier as a bias stabilized 

amplifier  (e.g. The main amplifier is connected to a plurality of capacitors and resistors, which 

bias-stabilize the input current.) 

 

33. Ranging Optics is in compliance with any applicable marking and/or notice 

provisions of 35 U.S.C. § 287 with respect to the ‘574 Patent. 
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34. Ranging Optics is entitled to recover from Defendants all damages that Ranging 

Optics has sustained as a result of Defendants’ infringement of the ‘574 Patent, including, without 

limitation, a reasonable royalty. 

COUNT II: INFRINGEMENT OF U.S. PATENT NO. 7,443,927 

35. Ranging Optics incorporates by reference and re-alleges paragraphs 22-28 of this 

Complaint as if fully set forth herein. 

36. Defendants have infringed and are infringing, either literally or under the doctrine 

of equivalents, the ‘927 Patent in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271 et seq., directly and/or indirectly, 

by making, using, offering for sale, or selling in the United States, and/or importing into the United 

States without authority or license the Accused Product. 

37. As just one non-limiting example, set forth below (with claim language in bold and 

italics) is exemplary evidence of infringement of Claim 1 of the ‘927 Patent in connection with the 

Accused Product.  This description is based on publicly available information.  Ranging Optics 

reserves the right to modify this description, including, for example, on the basis of information 

about the Accused Product that it obtains during discovery. 

38. 1(a): A signal detector, comprising:—Defendants make, use, sell, and/or offer to 

sell a signal detector (e.g. the Accused Product detects an incoming light signal)  
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1(b): a signal translator converting differential data signals into a single data signal:— 

Defendants make, use, sell, and/or offer to sell a device or system that includes a signal translator 

(e.g. ADC08060 A/D converter) operable to convert differential data signals into a signal data 

signal. 
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https://www.ti.com/lit/ds/symlink/adc08060.pdf 

 

 

1(c): a data signal detector outputting a data detecting signal according to the single data 

signal; and:— Defendants make, use, sell, and/or offer to sell a device or system that includes a 

data signal detector operable to output a data detecting signal (e.g. Gowin GW1NZ) according to 

the single data signal (e.g. The comparator output).  
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https://www.gowinsemi.com/upload/database_doc/401/document/6054519b2930b.pdf 
 

 

http://cdn.gowinsemi.com.cn/UG289E.pdf 
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1(d): an interrupting control circuit receiving the data detecting signal and outputting a 

shutdown signal when the single data signal is at high voltage level over a predefined ratio:— 

Defendants make, use, sell, and/or offer to sell a device or system that includes an interrupting 

control circuit (e.g. MM32F031xx) for receiving the data detecting signal and outputting a 

shutdown signal according to the voltage of the data detecting signal.  The MM32F031xx contains 

a reset routine, which outputs a shutdown signal when the input voltage the single data signal is at 

a high voltage over a predefined ratio. 

 

 

http://www.mindmotion.com.cn/userfiles/images/MM32F031XiLieWenDang/DS_MM32F031x
x_q_V1.13_EN.pdf 
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39. Ranging Optics is in compliance with any applicable marking and/or notice 

provisions of 35 U.S.C. § 287 with respect to the ‘927 Patent. 

40. Ranging Optics is entitled to recover from Defendants all damages that Ranging 

Optics has sustained as a result of Defendants’ infringement of the ‘927 Patent, including, without 

limitation, a reasonable royalty. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Ranging Optics respectfully requests: 

A. That Judgment be entered that Defendants have infringed at least one or 

more claims of the Asserted Patents, directly and/or indirectly, literally and/or under 

the doctrine of equivalents; 

B. An award of damages sufficient to compensate Ranging Optics for 

Defendants’ infringement under 35 U.S.C. § 284; 

C. That the case be found exceptional under 35 U.S.C. § 285 and that Ranging 

Optics be awarded its reasonable attorneys’ fees; 

D. Costs and expenses in this action; 

E. An award of prejudgment and post-judgment interest; and 

F. Such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Pursuant to Rule 38(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Ranging Optics 

respectfully demands a trial by jury on all issues triable by jury.  
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Dated: June 16, 2021 
 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
_/s/ Hao Ni 
Hao Ni 
Texas Bar No. 24047205 
hni@nilawfirm.com 
Neal G. Massand 
Texas Bar No. 24039038 
nmassand@nilawfirm.com 
Stevenson Moore V 
Texas Bar No. 24076573 
smoore@nilawfirm.com 
 
Ni, Wang & Massand, PLLC 
8140 Walnut Hill Ln., Ste. 500 
Dallas, TX 75231 
Tel: (972) 331-4600 
Fax: (972)-314-0900 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
Ranging Optics LLC 
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